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People, being duly sworn and

follows:

City; I am in business there with my rum.

tiques, silverware and jewelry., We 1ive M'

and a back room, three rooms. The latb .

store from the office partition, It is & I :

$he entire avt.’orov.

There is a safe and thorcm ‘
- lustrating). You got to go around m-mm?&
the safe. This is the back room, It is & big |
is the counter and back of the counter is a d.hﬁ

‘There is a desk between the safe M m
There are other counters running this way, and | thﬁt‘w
little space to go throush.’

Tﬁo other safe is next the back there.
leads to the back room; here is the little safe,
a wooden partition, My apartments are in the §n8k¢
they are upstairs,

I owned some jewelry which was left me by my

mother; I inherited it at her death, seven years ago.



society pin, And the of.hor 1- turquoise &M

max know where that pin is now; it is a.t

selling jewelry, The mkot. va.-l\'m of M m
mond pin is $550. That :I.l tho ’3’9}‘" |

| I kept that jewelry in a ltm‘
They are both big safes, but this m tlu i

two, I do not mean the safe in tlp ofﬂ“»
Pt il

your left there next to the wall, That is the “W
it was in the safe next to £ho va'll‘. A3

These drawers go ono on the bottou, om next M '
the bottom, and there is a safe on top., We have got M
safe for about fifteen years.-

When I inherited this jewelry I kept it with m ‘
of the other valuables in the safe; kept it on the m‘
opening; ﬂu_\t. was the only thing in the opening. The m

was right in there. Anyone could see the box with M



every ro-poctr That 1- not the vd‘ry m !‘mﬁ"

negs with me. He came and stayed “If
for a good many monthe, since January.
of July; he blew his finger off, He pwﬂ
my uncle. The defendant came down to the m. |
tation; I asked him to come and -ta& with me ihih
was sick. He stayed upstairs and slept in the .ﬂh roq
with me, . |

I was not in any business with the dlfonﬂllit; I
had made plans to go into business with him; wom Mu
printed. On the card was Real Esiate. I did not have any
Real pstate transactions, :

 He came there to the store every day. ne
uncle and my father and my whole family, I showed him

&




Mn ! iah.rlu& m M
luly eighth,
There was a pmkm ot

box--the clerks had gone to mppor—-l mr.

box, in one of thou dravors. and I Itﬂ

in the window, and afterwards the safe is iijtt ﬁoﬁ; mﬂﬁ
that strong box is locked., This is not where I k‘bt W

silverware. This was jewelry that I carried iu Mg “
it is put in there at night and lecked up. The d"t "!}’na.
left open. This strong box was kept 100&0‘. IQM,

'ko'i on the bunch of kon that 1 m in my pom&u




showed it to the ciorendant. I locked the g@
throwed the keys on the desk where thlr
front of the safe behind the counter, '

Nobody goes behind there 03
with the store, I onplo;dt.vo ehm lt
Finegan, another man uu! nyuolt. i
the defendant at about six o.ﬂtﬁu

1 sent for the dofmﬁ Cﬂr

in thesstore. We were all there. He was around mﬂ
every day; he was around the store since M‘ mmw
there on my invitation, ' :

He was around thoro. all the time, m”' »
up for the .nuuom-. I found I could not get tm

the key was gone and the door was locked, I said to



rtu'. We said, "It must bo W.‘

.mut have fallen offte,

morning; that was bout six o m

past five, We forced it open in the

The first thing I seen was that 1t yﬂ M"

in there at all, The diamonds were in. M J
monds in the drawer. They were in the dmor Ilﬂ'x
in. | _

I ran upstairs and I asked the dofo“l_‘,’f
upstairs uleeping. I says, "Mike, my mother's
gone." pe said, "Don't worry, they must hom
place." I said, "Well, you are the last man I

to"; he says, "Don't worry; compose yenrnlr'.v



pose, I sat down ana wrote m tﬁt

my uncle, This was about a vuk d'ur

"ant was present, The conversation am mh

We huntod and we first found that pin, We were a.ll
in the back foou.

My uncle came down on the fifteenth,

the pin that aiternoon, ‘
The defendant went out about right after -= he
home to his dinner, While he was gone the dotoot'tv"m

had sent for, came; two of them came, Granville and




ting in the back room and m_m-mm m
off his coat, and took another coat that was |
and paid, "I am going to take your father W “
went up. He went out and then Officer Krm
better look through his coat," |
I looked in the defendent's eut."

ets., I found in his little money pmqt M

they wanted to arrest him, &and t.l'u'lm I
cideda not te arrest him, We cont inued lm
gooda'. .

The defendant came back that aight.
| anything to him about having found that pin ‘in his 'Mﬁ'u

The dotectivea were not there that nisht.

did not say anything to the dofonﬂant he asked. us “ "
found it amd we said, "No'; we kept on searching for m :

goodo; The detectives came again and holm xm.



pin, It was Pridn.y. the a‘rtndut ddclﬂ “,

ing and we were looking--through M
him look on one side of the-room and I |
side of the room,

The detectives were not there

a lcu.ngo, I was tirod. o

"Is that a mmx about the size of the box"? He bm ,t_‘:
piece of cardboard in and said, “"Is that about the tiu ct
the box?" And I said, "Yes."

He sayé, "Well, I think I will find it u-m m

scme place, I am pretty sure it 1. around here"; M m




Rinking whybé N hid M 'M; 1
the jewelry there. Bl

I was upstairs when he ﬂn

times.

downstairs., I don't remember what they

stud 1 remember,

He brouzht up the rest except a couple of 1&1‘.-&1&
He even lifted up the oil cloth and showed me a bl‘mw
on the oil cloth, and he says, "Look where that Qtﬂ m“
I says, "where is the box"? and he mn t.ut
torn box there, He showed me this box. Thoro'm ‘.1“.
something else missing there. The c@biﬁtlm' Ofm m
upstairs was in that box, a little private la.fo. a M‘m

tiny safe and that was not there. T



gratulated him, and then we said the pin m
"That is very funny that the pin should ‘not

rest of the goodl as it was there,"

in some corner, some place, I then mti

‘my uncle. My uncle came down and oou;uwl&m
was up at my uncle's house that night,

He was not arrested them, I cvonmlll# fm
the pin was; we found out after we had him arrcl“&. MIM'
confessed ---He told where the pin was. That was on July
29th when he was arrested. He was arrested on the 29th of \
July. He said when he’had pawned the pin, and How he haad
come to pawn it., . :

I went and found the pin the next day, the uur-
tieth of July. I found the pin pawned in Simpson's. m

is the pin. This box is torn off, to my knowledge, here;



bent around to ohlneo “the lis.. . ‘ti‘
v e‘ { m ’”,‘
Tha in not the box in which I pluce

when I put it in thahstrong box on Iulr'sil¢v

.M { At

*!Mw ]

around here; the box is made --by looking‘.§ . b ,
cen sce how the box is made, and then Aot

no notch in haro.

I did not find the key again,

1

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, McMANUS:
> I am twonﬁy two, I have known |
childhood; we were'Bdiz t§ioth§r; I ﬂl‘ﬁfﬁnl
went to school together, ;I have knovh'h&ipuilﬂt-

About the first of Tannnry 1903, Ix
intimate with him he used to come around te our piﬁ'l»vv

254 Bowery a good deal after the first. of January.

I think we did; we might have gone to, the same school; -y ﬂl
not positive about that. I don't romenbor tontifyin‘ to

on the last trial. _ I

The last trial was in the month of nnur._,,¥;ﬁxf

visited his house, and he visited mine; we exchanged



that place as an off'ice,
Sekeson--Joseph Rosenthal. aekma h
‘tate and Insurance. 254 Boweey, Bond mi_
York."

He used that placo as an oftl“. d
hire an office. I did not object to his aoiug u.
were printed about the first of June,
day after that.

My father was shot on the 6th of July, mm
ant was there up t.o’.TuJ.y 1'1ftﬁ; then he vonf ‘0.’...&.-"! ‘

After my father was shot I telegraphed to him,



third, I am not sure which, After -ym
egraphed for him. I sent him ‘thu tolwz
Sekeson, care of Birnbaum--Boston, m..
by accident, Come at once, in trd\{blﬁf'é"

Th;tiathonmlanknmby.

to me, I asked him to stay with gn,,;‘ m

needed his help. He got. there on ﬂu

I put away that package d Im
had on memorandum from downtown, There Mt
twenty or thirty diamonds 61’ varying uim. tw w
Iabout a thousand dollarn; thirty dlm:ﬁl. .

They were not worth a great dca.l more t.han m:_ !“

can get the origihal memorandumif you want tt. It yw m
to know the values, would you rather have the ma i
They were worth at least a thousand dollars and th.x 'lﬂ
wrapped in regular diamond paper.

I put them in one of these dmorn in thilr m VL
strong box. You could identify them by their coler n*'




g
{4

remember, I remember the other circu
year ago tm I had mon jewels M :
n:luutel, and I put them back tm. MW
of July, I threw the key on the dook. in N

I threw the key in front or t.ho m

way buck, to the back room s0 we can go upatairl, M nt

AT T e s e



br a muag.‘ I m ‘m
safe, right buk of tl\o cmul"-

I just threw the keys 1ocully Q'l!. w

eighth of Fuly.

/

I don't know what happemd ojtor

could get at them., I know that no outuj

there but the men in the store,

who could go behind there. nurn is :pp

vents paoplo from gottlng in th.rl \

ter and the -aro.

I am giving merely my impr

vefe not actresses. I am a song wr

behind the counter; if they come in

:iou; they do come.

the safe and I could not find it,

he did-nqt come, I did not do anything that night at

iter, A mro& |

, they come 1u M

0

I sent for q‘l m



not remember that I t.‘ut'i‘fviod on m 1
half ‘pui four or four o'cl;ok., ’
I think it was later than !‘ui"‘,d*v'
~was wrong when I testif'ied before to !‘m
time of day was this when you sent form
guess about five o'clock,"” .

thﬁ I lost the key---

about it; I went to bed that night M 1 :
I looked at the key ring and I m tlmt Oﬂﬁ
n was m-niblo —— A
tive which drawer. On the fifteenth t.ho box vm't

three feet); then comes the show cases and’ cmmtfor‘lb'

is in it, The offiée is a square room almost and th. ﬂl



It tl
strong box." He said, "Oh, it must be

'iiko. my mother s jewelry is lut.-'

He ml. 'Oaln yourself; collect yourltu‘*”
will gct right up and you lit down nul wua..

is there".

the jewelry®". I said I would- tirat notify my mlfh
not write out the list unt.ilmy uncle came in with=-1 M&
write out a list later. Right after I sent for my uncle I
wrote out the list.

I don't remember whether or not he told me to go |
around to Police Headquarters with this list; I don't t.hmk
he did; I would not swear he did. | B

I wrote out a liut as ‘ar as I mm

guess, He did not write out a list at my dlnctiﬁ:.

sure wbout that. The liut is here that was umfm




in the ﬂr-t un. I dn't
did; I am aluolut.ely puiti’“.

When asked 1n the l.ut triﬂt
pin on t.hat. first list, the three lt‘m P
remember.," But I am px"ottv‘miim ¢
one of the bi;jgest pieces. Take the P‘“’#
rings, they would be worth a little more ti

mueh,

When he came in the detectives were !ﬂ N !
took off his coat that he was mm and put ﬂ
coat; he did that of his own motion, MW!
in this same room with bhéne detectives. ' A i
He : °
walk and he went out. I think that was the first mho
‘took him out. That was what he was there for, to t‘kt :
out. You will have to ask my father if it was at hum
quest., I was not up there when he m. the "““.,-*
know whether my father asked him to take him out W

don't know anything about it,



found this pin, the Y. P, C. pin.
and some people call it oadeto. I was a &
one of the organizers. I would not bo M
organized; it is & good many years »m',' fm
Jears .89; . |

| Sékeson was not a member of M ﬂ%
tive, When ukod on the lut. trm ' »
I must have answered "I mn'tbmo' Mi _
"You won't swear he did not bclou to uv‘
ulr' We found out since.

I don't think there nro»uoro .thmt
badges. That is the form of the badge that sach "or‘
bers of that club had, and there were about thirty Uf
The Young Potomac Club is a ---1 joined it about nim:o'r""‘“i'
ten years ago, when it organized at the neighborhood gnild
Delancey Street. I don't know the number, be"two'on‘('!hrvatﬂi‘@
and Forsythe Streets at that time; they have got a Ml&tn /
now, the University Settlement Building. 4 |

We searched ior the stuff before "' dlumm
that pin and afterwards too. We searched oiory part 0‘



We looked all through the -tw.y.---
store, among the goods and the cases and all

looked in the rear room, but we didn't fina 1t

teenth; I am sure of that, he did not ren
at all, but on the seventeenth he d“.

We started searching on the

goods". And he brought a lot of these up in his hand and
laid them down on the trunk; most of those that are pronm‘
here. | «

I asked him where tho& were downstairs and m
he had found them. He brought me downstairs and W m
the placo‘ in this oi'fice. 71 said, "Where is m Wﬁ ﬂ
he pointed and said, "That's the box". The box was Mﬁ ”

)
s



the box®. There was even & couph of thim :
"Q He pointed out the lli‘ot on tht' E

said he found it? A Yes, air®, I gave that test

box was lying next to it, that is the box “WH Ly

iu the answer I gave, The box was lying_ m
Yes, sir", 'l‘ha.t. is right.

pin was not with it, I oo.id to m-, 'It h

I notified my uncle, and he came down and put the m
question to him, He said, "rt is very funny ’th‘ pin aia
not show up if the rest of the stuff d'id, a.nd'lik/_e ua:l-.d;
“Ix muaﬁ be around aoino place." He said he would look ter
it. .

Before the whole bunch of us my uncle m‘. "It
two ' : 5
is up to you to find it, that you were the last pooplb

saw 1t", I didn't have him arrested then; this m on W

Ne



faie
3

mdntnnth B fl’i‘ was mmnm

1

Wi
aa.:ld *What i‘cr"? He m pretty’ 1ud1mt.

] Cat

. Krauch said, "Why, we arr‘lt ynu fo*r tﬁk&u“

then Krauch was telling him what he :l'ound out, aboi;t .tho’
pin,'etc.

Krauch told him about the pin and the real estate
business being falase. We told him about the 'cvid.nco nw

asainl't him, a couple of sports., We told him I.hcutwn “ﬂ-

rest ho said., That is on the way up t.ho lmry.



he says, "I took it and pawned it 1'__
"Under what name"; he says, “"Kahn®

-

found®. So the detectives aa:ld. "’!’Gu :ﬂ# u

that you kept this pin out o.nd then pmi.
'Yoa';‘ I nayi, *Take him up‘atairl'. e 5

That is all there was $o $§. 1 We$ mm
fied to all that conversation on Page 29, if it is “‘i t
I think I said: "that you stole from me", I did not km
that it was important. I don't know that the words "You

stole from me" were inportant.



~

The two pins are now in pawn,

the utm %

the other pin,

after --I know it now, that in -rd-r' |
without paying for 1t, you have got to

this case. ity

“they Aid or net, Only my father and I could g.t' lt Mﬁu

I don't know how many times it was out of that case,

dinner and to meals at different times., Our
perfectly friendly, and I knew Q’\- whole of his :
k ’ ;

he knew my family,



thham of $225,

I never seen antnlgﬂnﬁﬂb

‘peen him here in Court,

ed about the cighth. It was art-r this do’t“? A

day; He got in about six o

I am sure about that.

we closed the store at nine o'clock. He went lp

got in,




noon. He might have been there,
in the afternoon of the seventh,

I am not positive when he m
that time. I am not sure that :w
| pame aay Mr. Lowengard wes there.
I testified in my direct

nct touch this jewelry u:ntu the e

is on the books when he bought t.lu -m .%

ol

the books horo.

)

tea set I think; some dishes,; ull big pieces.

great big bundle, all right; all locse; it had to I



from the store; we missed a m'r of a:

April., ﬁ
heart; a gold badge; that is about a;l t.ho- b i

missed. My father missed a clock, a littiﬂ .

tvo show cases and & space between am in tM’U |
almost at the middle, he found this stuff; he mu ’
it,
This space was about that wido(illuatt‘utinﬂ.f&v%t:
four feet, It was right in the middle. I had locked there
before;, three or four times and had seen ‘t.ho officers look

{

there,

When he pointed to thdse fragments of a m thwt
was still something in it, He said, "That's the plm'
There was still scmething in the box. I have testified M
that pin is worth $550, . R



the detectives told him about the real OIMC
Bald he made 8o much iomy o:i.

I told him he was dmrgdd--*lthi
stone dimmond pin. I did not tell him

charge. After he was arrested, lft‘l' N
"What else do you want?* I says, "!1

He said, "I didn't take uﬂ

v+ | day we took him down to Simpson's pawn m L

‘Krauch,“my uncle, myself and the defendant wn‘ "

pin and he says, "Is that the pin you stolo and pr’
he said, "Yes, I don't know why I did it," He roforr.ﬂ “;f
this pin,

This was in Simpaon'e pawn shop . We thiu 'tm. hh

over to the court and he asked us to give him a lw M m



He said he had taken thn"“'ji :

"them into studs and pawned thes in SWQa'i
of wahn some time in April or May.

I notified his father and his
ard his father came up there --'hon hm‘
said aom-thing. He laid it 1n dotooti'n
presence; he said it teo the aofm t.

He said, "What did you do th
rest of this stuff®; he said he dua't
of the stuff was; he would not answer nim

He Adid not say n.nythinc. he '
The detective, Krauch, the defendant, MO
present, I was down in the Headqwterg mt ‘;‘
and they took him out of the cell; that mli';t ﬂu _

I don't know whether it was July 50th 'oi Silt:;" ;
either one of those dayi. We took the »nero‘nﬂl.r.xt down tQ'_‘   ‘-,

Simpson's on the thirtieth.

I think it was the same night or the npit ni(ltf;" %



the studs, I think that is the 14 _
quarters, I think I made unotbor _l‘iot.'

only 1ist T made. That is my handwriting.

sent to Headquarters., This’ 1ist contains M
a4 three stone diamond pin valued at t550. ‘

this is the list that I sent to Headquar

I don't think there was w OMT

there was another list that I gave to m i'v

i

their own personal use. The three nm

that.

a list, My uncle said as much to him as that -lh"'

pected, I have told you what my uncle uu.

goods were.found, we were up at his house that night for
dinner and he said "You are the only two .pooplo' that W i
these goods and it is up to you people 1] “find M'g lihﬁ
knowa very well that my uncle suspects me am he ml‘ mj

say othewswi e&

said,"] didn't like how your uncle t.au.kod up mu m



|

“

~talk that way, and he said so, . I wasn't

for thinking he would return the zoods.,

“him,

been up there over twelve years. I was detailed in this case

says, "Yes, it "t be around oo-n'plqnbﬁqnﬁ

up, I am sure, to-morrow,"

on the laut trial.

For a bluff I said, "If m WW

JOHN L. KRAUCH, awitness called in behalf

of the People, being duly sworn, testified as follows:
I am attached to the Detective Bureau and hﬁo
some time last July, from the day it was reported until the
day that we arrested him on the 29th of July. I bdim“

was reported on the f_irtoont.h.




is annpg.u wmou t.hoy call the cﬂm«-
‘and the uon propor. ‘ el

While we had this conversation tht a

walked in and he said, “"Joe, I am going to t«lki your

out"; he took off & coat, it was & blue serge coat, I .b“

and hung it on the nail near the door. : oo
After having t.hia convorsat.ion.ll lm W M

Joe --'rh. defendant was not there; I had a cemrntm



on the back of the pin,*
I had a cornversation with ‘th_ﬁ c

tive to the pin; that was on July fit

office several times. I looked all

That was July firtoonth.

'tooh me out into the store and.
) : t

box was m the safe; showed me m

¥ two drawers.




that space m-qﬁito'.,mﬁ;ﬁ‘ ﬂw 5
lustrating) ; we aid not see anything t

noon I went in myself -~

it has got to be here somewhere.
M was Thursday. » ,

On Friday nor'n'iuig n ﬁlt
my colleague, vM‘r. Pireisen and I Nut :
met the defendant there. "Well"I m
thing"; he says, "Yo, no‘t' yit., but “W
somewhere, It is in the store; it omum
1 says, "You better iry and find that or mw
into trouble®. That was on the eighteonih;

On Friday evening 1 received word thatthl
had been recovered, I went there on wurday &ftlm
my colleague, Mr, Firneisen and we waited thﬂ’.“
N, Sskesen vems L amd 1 said, *Well,Mike, you mm
very lucky; you found that ﬁ.ul‘r'; he says '!’u.‘ "M

it,* I says, "Where was it?" He says, "Back “"m

M 60}{0&@» says, "Whereabouts was 1t?* So he tnﬂ



'In th‘ro'

"Now* ,

"We will find it all right®,

That thteo atono pin wau
doacriﬁod. Ho says, "It has got to.bd   :
vill find it*. That was on mm
following Mondsy and the defendant '

The defendant was not there,

"I didn't have anything--" he became quite 1ndignlnto
I said, "Mike now yvou have taken that all right and M ;

three stone pin ismissing"; I said,

havo also made a lot of stato-ont. whioh I




I have lumu m not »
He said, I did sell watm.d

proptrty 5

he says, "I will show you the contract." ‘
do--'I asked him on the way up, Iuyu,"Du
ailvor badgewith Y, P c. On it"; he. u}.‘,

I saia, “You never didf" Hl
not" *Well" I says, 've romw a W

thut on 1t'; and oeniaz up tm mrx ‘M

Mr, Remnu. you '11,1 have t.g cm

three stepndovn, and the complainant we mmrﬁ&ym
stairato go through the corridor into the office prw

Aa I was about to take him dovu-tll.lrl 1n t.hrm
the hall he said, "Can I talk to Joe a ninuto"‘ I m,

*Yes, you can talk to him"; and they went down um m

says, "I didn't take it“;, he says, "Yes, you GWL

s 78




he says, "down in Park Row.

. he payd, "On the day after I found t.hn

AN

I .a.w, "How .uch aia you @i"v n
'A‘huulrot and firty dollars®, ' k
‘!-uk him up*, ' |
| The defendant said, *Joe, mz,
te do 't.hiu. I told you where the pin m\' a.ﬂ
"Yes, I n" and he says, -- he turmd aréund tc»»'"
says, "Mr. Krauch, isn't tha.t mean after me telling M.m
where this pin was, that he is going to have me arrutc&!"
| I says, "Mike, they want to know where the ot!hw
, jewelry is that you took," I brought him upltgm‘,tf“~-_l' |
his pedigree and locked him up. » |
The next day [ met Mr, blnrt nonntm m
complainant in this case, Joseph Mulm “ ‘



"‘"011', he says, '1t. oortainly 1l

you do with the pawn ticket"; h. m; 'f

destroyed it, I am not aurovvhich; hu q&ﬂurm
ed it or tore it up. . Wk ‘

My colleague, Granville, said to hing‘ o1
an intelligent fellow, You know when you pumdtaim M
he says, "There is not so many clerks behind the ‘
there®; he says, "Was it the o0ld fellow thoro M \
from you", and he u(d, 'Yon'; ‘1 ll:ld -m PM
6ﬁ iho dage that you say",

tion with him,

/



cEih He said, 'mxo, you nﬂ &,. “
lost your nerve"; you told where tla DM‘
you would have holétwt " he says, you nm, i
right" but, he says, "Mr. Rosenthal didu't_hﬁn’. “
us Lo have vou arrested.

He had a perfect right the minaute ym’x
that jewelry to him on that day that you IM
you arrested. The next day Mr. Ros-ntm,
ant's uncle and the complainant and t.ho
son and myself went down to 225 Pa.\"k lﬁ

In the meantime I had na‘ De
down to look at the books and he tolom v

discovered the item which had been QIM“

vious, or, in other words, two or three da.n afttir
ceny had been committed,

The defendant stated to me that it had been
pawned the day after he found the jewelry; tht m the
seventeenth, Afterwards he said it was pawned on thi Om v
teenth, I found it had been pawned a week provlm. m
elo}cnth. I asked the pawnbroker to bring the pin m; l
sy EPRIGI QI T Gt S Rountm. I m,m '
this yb‘hr pin?*; he lookod at it and he l&tl. 'M ‘

cr gl



to the Police Court, I aakod ‘to have m- r

restitution, I then asked him about the other &

had been stolen,
I asked him --We had a OGI‘W‘ )

him back; he was remanded by the Magistrate,

Police peadquarters, and that night I not t.m

father who wanted to go down and see his son.
I brought him into Police Headquarters amd mw
the son out and sat him down and he had a ta.lk,th. W at
had a talk with his son and he said "hq.t did you do this
for?" and the defendant did not mnr. He utd. *You
murderer, you murderer, you know what I have M. M‘. i

have you done, &nd you know that I owe two months Wﬁ""



an exam:lnl.tion in court, in t.ho

4b\on hold for trm.

Wﬂt'
the defendant in Police noaaqwun. !mw
nro HOM.O A

Isdistinctly remember this cem at

the father and the defendant, I don't ruﬁollcat“ihu_
ﬁr b

geant Granville testified to the second co?‘voraatiou, ,I‘; il

testified to that conversation on the laat tri&l.

don't think I did. vSergea.nt Granville was doing 8ll the
talking, but I was present. | |

i don't think I testified to any of thllc
on the last trial, Sergeant Granville brought tlmt
certainly that was an important 'natier. I could m

whether T said anything about that congersation

/




‘trial. Sergeant Granville

HENRY G,
on behalf of the Pooplo, being duly m.
lows:

I am a detective sergeant,
this case., After I was assigned to si‘:
of business of the complainant on m
on the afternoon of July 16th, l.nd I

I “arc!ud the ofﬂw
office betwean the counters.

ant at that tmo

cided and said, "Yes, it ‘should be h.ro, MW
taken it; it could not have walked out",

I says, "It must be here"; he la,yi. 'Yci
ought to look oarefully'; we coﬁnoncod to search

We made a ‘thorough search on the unntunth‘; n

the gixt-enth. Qp thp nvohtunth we went m



well, in the neighborhood of haltpm

elry*., 1 says, "What bomo 0!‘ | he
the pin and he said, *Oh, it cannot be
around here some place, it coulda*t

here"; I ml. *That's right.

arrested,
CROSS RXAMINATION: | ,
On the seventeenth we made & thorm‘! A

Y ST T iy W N




to produce the .Lurr it oould nl‘

It was up to both of M. Iz

stairs., The clothes were not  searched to ng

on the 15th of July about 2P, M,
went down to the store of the complainant, I mmﬂ
the defendant came in and changed Ris coat,

I seen Joseph Rosenthal put his hand in“.w,



when I came into the case was W 29

present at the arrest of the dofoM»c*”

Krauch said he ought. to havo known whut M M ‘m
the ticket and he said he could not ronolbot‘.

So then I took him in ha.nd I turM to m,

lawyer®,

I says, "You mustn't think that you g.rd' str



be there if you haven't iold the ticket or

and so he talked for awhile. "Now" I says,

225 Park Row?* I said, thoro is only f.m
I described them to him and I described a

of Kennel, an elderly man, .

" man who has got a brown mustache; I. says, t.horo il m 1
man with a bald head and a gray mustache, he says, ',' t'l
the man that ma.do .the loan",

He was put back in his cell a.nd in considomtm
of that conversation, the next do.y, I went to 225 Plrt M
He said he pawned 1t on the oishtaonth. I nnt to 3&5

Row and I told --or in consideration of the comrmwt

had down there they brought up the pledge numbered ﬁ



\slephoned that up to Krauch and My

- ceased,

CROSS EXAMINATION: |
I think the defendant was in the -_gqui

went in there, I don't know whathor he knew

tective or not; I could not say 'hothor hmuiiﬁ

had been sent ror. I did not talk with m
Krauch and I were there, and »

room, He took of'f thc coat h. hnd Qn

I never IkaQ to him,

he came in, about the jewelry,

Mr, Robiﬂ. Rb"li

side and Mr. Rosenthal on the other -- he was mailnj’s‘v
randum --Krauch was making a memorandum of &a déaqription ofl”
this jewelry,whonlhe came in,

After he left young Rosenthal then looked in hil i

coat and found the society badge; he found it in the np.&,“j g

which the defendant had just hung up., I went and -mm

the coat at the same time., I searched the coat t' Ibt tf

there was anything in it.



the lining was torn,;
the lining; I ran my hand in there and around

coat.,

CHARLES J. FROLKE, a utmn called ﬂn_‘

People, being duly sworn, testified as followwz
T am employed at 225 Park va, at Smpuia'fu‘.*‘

have .got. that pin here. The pin was pawned .T\'xly‘ lith. 1 _

a diamond pin for $150. by tﬁe name of Mr. Kahn, 54 MG

Broadway . ‘ ,

bougm. and sold a good deal of it. It is port ot' w“m

,qnirmonu in my business. At the pruont M& !

s l

\



GEORGE A,

elry quite often., I knew what jewelry tﬁbﬁq“

I am familiar with that pin that is mm
here, | :

I remember t.‘ho.‘ day there M a
the key of the safe being lost, I m&
search of the premiges for several days.

the search for this box of jewels.

oftice. We looked where we thought we could p@plii&} ftn‘
it. We went through the office, behind the colultﬂ‘l Iﬂ
through the store.
I was present in the store when the d.fquglpit; 
he found the jewelry, I did not hear my,oxolo‘im'ﬁ.
mark when he found it, He brought it downstairs m m a

covered that he said he found th. 3e'o1r1.



any exclamation had been made I could have hinrd . § PR

‘ AR e
‘aia '!ho declrr Ul‘z
CROSS BXARIKATIOI.

distanco between where I wta and upltuirlu‘

it if he said,'Joo ,Joe,I found the jewelry#.
‘ :
that - jewelry; I don't know anything ahwntft#
up.tq}ru I don't know, I Aid not know hﬂq‘
he came down, The entrance'to upstairs is in
large flight of stairs,

These keys werd

ev;ry day.

I never opened this strong box in‘ai ilti;;
was & privute arfeir with the house itself; I haq no Qﬁ&kﬂ
to open it. T did not know anything --1 knov theao IOOﬁQ
diamonds were in there, I did not see them until aft.r%.
wards, They were gquite a batch of uncut dianondu. thsv tﬂl&-
in the same strong box,

I was in the store, taking care of thn nt&rnw;g,



‘ MILTON ‘ll'.‘__"' Slk s
duly ifom, in his ‘ovn,bemf;;v_ '8
I am twenty-one, I ﬂ born in

at 166 Madison Street with my, "p'a.r.‘nt'.. ﬁ.“ )

&n'at.t,orney at law for about a year a.nd u
that I was in the office of Mr. Louis Hen
poration Counsel, as a law clerk,

I left his employ last !Qbmrf

ness with my father, building oporuivi‘m,

;¢ had kxnown him since I was a little boy; m ”
with me. I continued my friendly relations with him af't

| I left school,
I went there after the first of January to "f;_::

er degree than I had been going there boforo'.

~about March, The business was real estate uﬂ im
254 Bowery,., Joseph Rosenthal, the couplaimnt m'w
ner in business. These ca.rda were yriatoﬁ uml Iﬂ .
were printed, I t.old him I was going to have tbn



‘Potonac mmber.. :

It was a hon club ﬁi
Delancey Street, the University Ult Ar
club was conducted under the auspi
Settlement. Rvery member of m 0&“

That 1- my badge; I M mu
that time, on the day that thoy ola.:ln tht

day that the detectives called thore.

i 5
d

" I had a badge like it --I don t know whetl‘nl' -
This complainant was not a member of this club to my

edge, It does not differ in any reopect frm tm m

knowledge., He was not a member of that club -hnzd
member of it, I was a meber four or ttn M, a

years -~






thos; he rould
I was ;neg-e SEH the pa
livercd to him; he asked his ra.thd‘r
them or not and we came down with tm
him at the ﬁimo l
I saw him put them into the safc;
time that he took out the other jewelry, when he putf”
package of diamonds in, I remained there right aftb?? -

up to the fourteenth,

"x‘



xﬂn'ihﬂf;' f”‘ﬁ&t;f‘fﬁh;f

of 11°. and T ab Nie Yequiit; WWhte that b

sent around to Police Haadquarterl.

‘ '
- 3

came down, I am certain I prepqrod tha-i”

'qu anything to me at that time as t.pg

' box with the other jewolr:.

ﬂfrau him at-our house.

'Mr. Levine is not here;’ I oxvect
to-morrow, This complainant visgited our fallu‘vnyw :
he has had his dinner at our house very oitan, in fact h

called my mother ma, just as I did,

March and the time of my arrest. He brought that pin down



.

says, *T haven't got any money just nows
can afford to buy that.® | |

He dropped the conversation with h_t-‘n‘,,.,'
"Here, Mike, won't this look nice for Mag"

mother Ma. And I says, "I don't know, I

that evening --a couple of days after I
mother, and she has b en wearing it ﬂdr

been pawned,

@

under those conditiqnl.

My mother wore that pin very off.en whemvor'-:lij‘i:‘.
went out, whenever she was dressed, On the llth.o'f .Tuly;; 1
my father came to my mother and asked her to ploé.u let hm
have it so that he could get some money on it for he u |
just taken a contract at 241 Madison ‘St.roetl to ao “‘9"&
t.ouzvo alterations and he neodoa"om ready cash --| v
some cash and she willingly gave it to him and he r

‘ Ey ey



‘'mé to pawn it which I au. ;

$150. I asked them for mm M

pawn stuff under a.unmod names.
I told you before, Mr, .m.

charge my memory with dates or nﬂ-hil‘. ‘

in in
ing.
after e
| down; he is the complainant 8 unclo, he sent tor lﬂnd :
I remember Mf. .owenga.rd's coming 1n, that was on
the same day that he handled the jewelry, t.he oishth of
July. Mr. Lowengard left an order with him --he picked m&

a4 nmber ot good---thoy have got wall cases. thon with a

they had a lot of silverware taken out. Mr. Lowengard
bought a lot of that -turr it m pJ.a.«a u M '



as testified to by the officers. That badge was in my

when I hung the coat up.

summer ‘time when I wore no auupcadcu or mt, 1
it in my coat pocket; I hq.n done that for years.

take Mr. Rosenthal out, as they testified to,



take the old man out.

I continued to search for the tmm.m
thr ough every Enssikke pieoo of lilvormtf ’
never thought that he night. have put it u )
Ho 80 stated, He thought he might hmu
why we hunted for it; he did not W

he put it in the safe or whether he M &

fore part; we hunted around all ucrliu M Gm; L
afternoon, the clerks were busy, and Joe m I
a while,

Joe helped me search in the front part of the
store, and in the rear part of -thg store, but he was not
with me. in t.he office ---while he was upstairs, 'n nu ;
there -- T went through ovoryt.hing, we took all m m
ont. that is, I aia, I took an ‘the boxes out of m. M"‘
fice and lopa.ratodeverythin‘ m when overnhtnl was m.,,.

I found this Jovolry.



floor. T took them all out befére I found these .

Mc at his direction; this wis the liﬂtt
Headquarters, _

o Nothing was said that would lead u? to sugp
that they believed me to be g1111£y of atéalila_g thf. jm:u,'
except the remark of Mr., Roscnthal when he said, "I '“ |
Lup to Jou Tellows to find it."

They did not say they anop;otoh me ., l(ohol.r um
a word Lo me t.hat led me to believe that they t.honm I"M
guilt.y'of the larceny of these goods., The dot_octi.m‘fw
not said a word to me about it . b { .1‘.,1',_" found t

goods and turned them over to the man who owned |



days after,
Meantime I was up in the
vacation, '.me complainant was roqusm W
vas at the invitation of my unolc M %
g0 with him, and Joe claimed that he was b
didn't & “along. | :
AL the' t4mé T wedght ke pm
was hil mother's pin. he did not m w‘ tﬁ‘“
was ta.ken out of the ntock because Juo m
the store. e :
When I was coming home after a.tt‘endiﬁ;‘télwv'v
mission down at the County Clerk's office I met Joe n‘t'
a—toop, and he says, "Mike wait a minute"; and I started
speaking to him there when all of a sudden Krauch cm
along and he says, "Mike, we want you"; come alc_v"l‘{
.aro under arrest,* ' N
I said, "For God's sake, Krauch, vhutn
for?* he says, *Come along. You will find out®,



*Mike, what do you want of me, what am I w ‘_ a
£ R

he says, "For what you did", That is all I w '
fair,
Then T went to ﬂeaﬂqmrtpfp, :

to me was that he says, "Mike “m‘t
pin?" I says, *What pin®; he says"The |
says, "Why do you want that, didan*

says"Well, we want it, that's all,*
I told him he knew it was

I told him I am going to pawn it. He we
the conversation, between me and llonuM. i

I saye, "Joe, you know it is 016_".

me how I came to pawn it under that name,
Simpson's and saw the pin there

I had no further conversation with nouot«ﬁm;

pawned and on what day. That was the second w'



pin.

has got $100 from me; he 5ot it in :mu.

cash and I said, "Joe, here is something on aci

on account."
He came to me and said he

gave him $100. I had it and T let him !

*Mike, is this the pin?® and I said,
* and"pawned" were never mentioned to

if I stole it.

into trouble for nothing at all and I Iantod ta
it was for; T had never been arrested and naturally I cr
I had never been in any scrape before.

I had bought other jewelry from this man mm'
paid for it. I kept a record of the pamnoutn I nl‘i; Hfj
kept it in this particular blue coat, thil lornl C‘q&lif
had never got it -~-

xm in that B amm m.’




‘piled with boxes; they could not get in to sweep 1t.. : m ¥

that is a raillroad mileage Mﬂl i

from my Uncle and that was morm urn

had been in the clothes. I have novor r

I have demanded them; T also notified my ¢

f“tc

I did not know the MMM#{

I never saw this strong box M

near it.

time; it was always locked except mauw
jewelry out occasionally. R
I saw him put those loose diamonds tn
vasn't there when they swept; they unnally noyt tl w
morning. I was usually aslcep then and not 1!! thl '1“.. ‘ :
CROSS EXAMINATION: | Aot

They never wwept in the office because it m

office was full of things all the time; it was so mx d.,



thila 1nitﬁnro.

uged as a ith' room.,

you went inside, .
Naturally there was a ganswa& or #_h

go in; this passageway was clear., There was not

of hoxe- there.

This Jewelry waa right bohi!ﬁ thn‘

out that the jewelry was found,
When I took the boxes out I threw thﬂl ou

in the hallway;, it was practically a nallway 1oadln¢-to}ﬁhm~

rear room; that is where we pluaced everything until we hlﬁ
everything thrown out and then we found thiu stuff and after
Joe came down he helped me take the stuff out of there,

Then we pulled up the oileloth because m m

4



office was clear, \

We began to look for the jowolty on

store and we took dm every piece of -uw ¢

closets on both sides of the ltm.

of the office; if you had seen the place you ¥
would take more than that. We -mau .t tM ”
the store and went back. We had not got to tN?
When we got to the office then we rm m
ry. I first saw this box of jewelry.a long t,i.no l.mx; m
a year or two ago. I knew where Joe got it; it belonged tl"
his gother., I simply looked at it, that is all, |
I knew there was a big pair of diamond earrings
there, I remember examining tpat pair of diamond Ml{uﬁ.‘ -
one is round and one is ‘-qua.ro-. That pin, I nvor saw &l

that box, I never got any receipt forthe money 1 mm

nor did he get any receipt from me, I Aid not mm




1398, I was then m with my father, and mg 1‘,'

~this pin to my mother I had some llonoy.

father as much monoy as I modoa, m
carry me through, that is 0.11. »

 I‘ was vicy-prnitht' and a
semi-monthly paper issued m. :

members, one of the aémiun;

was an honorary member of it.
‘origin; Miss Buck was the one who had

I knew Mr. Low:l.l.

from 1897 to 1903; bought new suits g:r clothes. I llWi
carried this little badge with me and I had it with me an
the 15th of July 1903. I had it mended on one oomious M

was mmx out of my possession; I vas there vrua it m,

du-ond earrings ohnmd 1nto otm. that u m



sisters and brdtheru. Their names are .omp
and Maxie, Louis and Arthur, my brothers,:
Mr. Rosenthal were also at the table,

I know they were at the wm\.s i

saw it, Naturally .everybody omM

for it., - : n SRR

like that. Mr. Levine told him rignt there and
he cannot afford to invest juat. tﬁore and then, | |

He oflf’ered it to me for $225., I Aid not buy it “ o
the table. After I had seen him again, I got it fro- him |
and brought it home after I requested my parents m-mrx
should buy it or not, : L a

I bought it at f.ho store. We were Q‘lml tm«*

S, . .
b&
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igarwas there; they were am“m .
whether he knew about it, I don't } _{i“""’f

give me the pin or not,

ways in the back room. This transaction was, 1' % e,

room, I can't exactly remember vhotlur M

There was no special occasion !'0!’ M
her; it was simply a gift,

I know a little about Jewelry.
I was getting full value for my mw; _
that, I aupposéd it was worth M. A
it; I was so intimate with him, and he mutuﬂv ’
’the tamily.,

He said the pin was worth $225 and so I said I
would take it. I stated this, Mr. Train---~I did‘not make w
memorandum upon which the amount of the pin was stated, I |
did not give him a note for it or anything like that,

This m the latter part of Apru. I udwﬁ'
gave the pili to my mother at the hom. I kiom W m

it on her right there, where it is, a breast pin, She



ke he knew eRes th
give me the pin or not, 0 T

Most of the time I was not 'in:.‘ths.i“"-
‘ways in the back room, This trmtion m
room, I can't exactly remember whether | .
stexs a;t the particular time or Mt; I
store. |

I never gave my noﬂ\.r a 'ftl‘
There was no .pocial ocmtm MMf
her; it vés simply a gift. ‘

I know a little about j _
I was getting full value for "IM‘.
that, I supposed it was worth 3225[. It
'it; I was so intimate with him, and he mnt
the tamily.

He said the pin was worth $225 and so I I&idI
would take it. I stated this, Mr. Train---I did not..lbkom
monorar;dun upon which the amount of t.né pin was lta,”'ﬁ;..j.f
did not give him a note i‘or it or anything 11‘0 mn. .

This was the latter part of April, I

gave the pin to my mother at the house, I hih‘qﬂ w




f mx--n needed some ready cuh at thut‘
vm it was for., The job \muh m
pin put the pin n'mn.

I never pawned wthiu.

vﬁeu I was in school and when I belonged to the Ym Pwr.
'i

tbmac Club.
When I worked for Mr., Hanneman I was known as
Sekeson; after I left school I was known as Sekeson, It 1.

Py
true that I had never been in any scrape before. mn m



club. I have it Mt nine years. I,
not exactly until it broke up, until I 1.

uated from that club, then I left it. ‘

on the eighth of July that Joe Rosenthal lhovod me his.
mother+s jewelry., This silverware was novod on the same
day. The name of the man was Mr. Lowengard, a !my.r !‘r“

New Orleans.

7



*Joe, put this aside !br -u' t& is
me the jewelry., Mr. bonnunl Oﬂ M

quarters. I have never had any

‘He would go out wit.hout me kmill‘ &t‘
to go out together,

~ He had never treated me tr
I aid think this was a horrible piece of treac ’
charge me with this crime. His whole story 'i.l &Mm
case of falsehood; it is perjury. - ; '

My father has the pawn ticket for that pln, !

trial. I don't know of any reason why the orﬂm.‘fh thi

, W e
. . N e



perjury. I never knew that !liin'

not among the Jowelrié*e o 0

found,, Nothing gag gaid about coatiugﬁg‘,g;
the pin, The box that I found the '

Exhibit B,

place, I did not point that box out o

evidence as such,
I told them that I had purchased that pin, in' N.

lice Headquarters; I told the officers that,

thn- I purchaaod it and my -nthnr-vln !-arilt lﬁ‘F‘\

e~

 what I told tm-



. oae At "
- r -*‘}! 4 e L e AT S

consider it necessary. He knew my tiolu'

it, 'There had been other purchases botvd.ii

by me from him, My name. orisinnllv tni?

That is the only rea.loatmq
as Bekoféky amony his own friends. Sekeson is a -
a.nglicizéd form of the name of Sekossky. ‘

I never knew of the loss of this key that was om
thité key ring. I never knew he had a key to open that door
with, I never saw it opened with a key. I never forced tm
thing open,

I saw Oft'icer Firneisen testify here; I never mdﬂ
to that man in my life; never had any convoroauon vtt.h hiﬂn
I have seen Otficers Krauch and Grayvillo. They o bh.

N

only offioor- I know, —~—



ninoteenth of July, a annnny thnﬂ ‘l“‘
been found., I did not say on that occasion that

pawn, I never said that I never had a Yi ’4'

There wds & conversation in ralaxicn to thih R
there is no question about that, I claim that thatrcoavlrég‘
sation was as I have narrated it, and not as Rosenthal and
Krauch say it was narrated, That I told them the pin was
pawned; I also stated that I said to Jog.Rosenthal that he
knew it was pawned, -

it

«

I8 A A C SEK O 88KY, a vitnn-a called on b‘hﬂlf of




fendant. He has Angncim ny mg

son Street. He did not live with the Bo.onth&)g'.; M Q
o:verhight with them; he used to come M hi
times, ) |

1 know Joe Rosenthal; he was a f
out house; he has been coming there ,to"i';.,
& school friand of my son's, ‘I m
during the months of Pebruary, Aprﬂ m

1903,

watchu, rings, and earrings and pins.
showed us, The first I saw of it was in th‘
'April, last year. I saw it in my house, Joo Robontm
it to me. My wife, my daughter and a man named Lovino were
present at f.he time.

My son was p}eaent when he showed me _t.habt- pin, and :
my wife also., He said that you should buy it for Ma. nrn
he orfered it to Levine; he said he didn't have the ‘-oun to
buy it; he cannot buy it, | | :

i LS P
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s

pil... My wife wore it after that, in m ‘
Juné. She wore it on a Sunday M .mw
to go out, She wore it to a wedding; the

some hall; I was not at the wedddng, but Joe

him,

would be willing to give me =--- Wi »

I took this pin, or he tock it at Wy .rcqnn&
he pawned it and gave me the money r'<.>r it; that was ﬂb‘h ‘
CROSS EXAMINATION: |

My son was in business with me, in the buudm
business. I had been making arlittle money. I had ma
paying my son for his services. I give him j\ut umu
he needs; if he needs a oouple of dollars more or not; b o ;
never had any acccount with him. mnvor he mm Mr I_“

gave him,




vmoihar. I first knew ho haa Ionlhi iﬁv

mer, I bought that pin." He said hnu"“

brought it up to my houqo. I firut haqvﬁ

thal oirfered 1t-for;la10.

it he asked me and my wife.
That was about the first partyztxyht
in the latter part of April; I 3?uld not r000110ﬂ
when it was; it was ardund that ti;e; he aaid, 'Nb;, it
coming before the hclidays", he said; 'It.would be very.niaiu»
It was in the afternoon that Joe Rosenthal brouaht;
the pin up to me; wbout late in the evening because I rbgolﬁl
lect we were sbout the supper table together, Rosenthal
was taking dinner with us., He brought it out lud‘of!it!‘]

for sale.,

. e 5 S e + tmtoren. ey




things but that isn't much,

it when he was arrested,

days later; I went down when he was at Police :

not know what he was charged with; he did ) |

vthing about it, ¢

my wife was wearins. 5

WVhat could I say to him? I aa.m. ?ot
sake, how did you come to trouble like t)‘la.t?' Mt 1‘
I said, I did say, "My wife has been veaélng that pin ;
ever since April; I told the detective that, that uy vi‘tc-_-

had worn it ever since Aprél.
the Headquarters. I heard Kranch teot.ify. but I mld ﬂiv :

cannot hear,

very well,




$150.
trdubln 1 said that. in Joe Ronentm "ﬂ‘
me and I went down to see him, . ‘;l

¥

it He said he wants ”00.

pay him that 3150 which T owe hin, which my son owe

I don't owe him anything; but my son owed h

I never &t'akod my son why” he did this, FHe only tol.d -otm
it was on ascount of the pin; ‘that is what he mll n‘ |
He-did‘n‘t‘know. .ll.o, gir, he didn't tell me mtlu“ mt
was the only thing he had to tell me about .th.”;!_lfil

o



TR

o,omrmzoa ihat I have just nar
Joe Ronnthll told M.

ever you want"; that is just what he told it.
he gent for me for.
HYMAN LEVINl,avitneio' oallo‘oabm'i

defendant, being duly sworn, t\eltiﬁ.od as ronw»‘

I live ut 113 Monrce Street. I am & mn'

dofondqat' fa.thor.y S et




‘member the date, but I remember t;\u lonth; 1
April,

I think 1tmona&mﬁay
m there and the whole tu:lly and m-
Rosenthal, Joe Rou_mthal was .uuu
1a5 to evorybodn ‘ '

Ho offared s lell me & u.'

the centre,
He offered to sell me the ‘pin‘, m

you want to buy a bargain I will lell you a ai

he didn't ask me any price; I told him I did not 1at0M ’tQ

buy it,.




‘sometimes,

.

BERTHA SEXESON, a witneas cal
. s Sl 7

the defendant, being duly ‘qﬁrq‘.f

I am the mother of this 601'

with me at 166 laalm Street.

to my house nontly every ovoniw.
er; they used to go up to his p‘lm.;‘

-

LA ; remember the month of »r‘ﬁ

him at my house; it was on Sunday, it was m 1 2
o clock, it was supper time. o i
He took out a little pioce of paer f‘rm h:l.l p

from his vest pocket. &and he took out some box frem m

Levine who was sitting at my table.
It was about supper time and he
"Would you buy that pin?* He offered him to buy |



the same pin which I wore--not one--
When my husband pawned it I d:ld_nft
'waras. I wore it several times before w

whonever I uaed to go out.

My son gave it to me.

ne. He resides with me and my father and mothﬂ' at 1&

ison Street; he has always lived 'ith us t.horc, onlv &‘m

or 8o that he was stopping at Joe ';l. »




says, "I will see, I hav;n't zot:tl..n‘vf”
Then finally ke decided, ;&ﬁ
la.t.orheoa-oandho mqwm,l
for you*, a.ua m gave it to her.,
mz is the pin; 1 am posit

the pin. My mother wore it on nwrﬂ»

it to a vedding I think, Joe Ro-oucm m
bl &
in the seme carriage with us, and he went from our

the same ca’rrizzge with my mother.

BERTHA SHEKXKES O N, recalled:

I wore that pin to a wedding at Webster ﬁail. ll'q
Joe Rosenthal and my son went with me in the same mri.u..
.and my brother., I had the pin in the ocarriage gomtb m

wedding,

R



CWILLIAN
of the defendant, bo:lu
I reside at 10 West ll'ﬂh »
student. I am not with any ,oftico_. Iﬁ ,
New York University 1n"a.lhinston &Wo.
I know this defendant ﬁnﬂ hl!!l
years. I formerly iived,dovaftéiﬁ. ?§4
neighborhood where heh lived. -
school together,

I was a member of the Y

was there. I was & member for uvora.l 10»-.".

the defendant was one of thé assistant editors of & 3w
written for the benefit of the club, -There was a young Mro

club attached to thl‘ Guild at No. 26 Delanooy Strnt.

MORDECAT B, uAux.a.mmuuuuu"
of the dé'fondant., being duly sworn, toniﬂ.ﬂ as

lows:

United States Onotou s.ng,.' ” a “

. i s el —
Sl e e g L e e - - o




there since last June.

I was employed in the New York Nuv: M
. years, less one month. I know this defendant nu
| known him about eight or .nine vears.

but not class mates. ! « A

defendant was a member. Every mbcr

to be paid for. When we were pri“‘ v
* 1 have seen Roaenthal aovﬂ

or two t.inon, probably three tinla

for several years. I have baon at uu '

al reputation is very bad. I formed that opinion of m i
the swnmer 01: 1902,

I saw & quantity of jewelry in the R‘onenthal'lt,e.‘tg‘
Rosenthal showed me a box of jewelry that he cla.ind‘ M.p
mother left him when she died, He showed it to me one

evening that I went to an ai’fair.

£ i
al times. Ho showed it to the omr bon. l.

|4 -‘ i




JACOB R, BERLFE I l;jo§1milggjr
behalf of the defendant, being duly '
as follows:

My name is Bel;lfein', Jacob ‘

152 Forsyth Street, City, T am t

years; T went to school with Mn. !
Young Potomac Club. The dctc.m_ was
Potomac Club. X - |

I know Joe Rosenthal; I don't
member. I don t think he was a lulber at. tho : ﬁ. |
was, - I was a member for three or four years. Ko m ﬁ

trustee of the Young Potomac Club,

He practically held the two h:l.m“t offm M‘
the club, that of pre-ident and - truatn. tmm *‘ "
'cq.ly the highest oﬁ’ioc in the club. . ‘ |

‘}g’j I know thiu boy's ropuuuou rw trm

Ly o‘



this defendant wore.

CROSS EXAMINAT ION:

I was tvouty years old lut .Tulr.

T know - thin. derentmatis ¥ ml‘

Young Potomac Club; this defendant % was thoﬂ

member, I was a member about eight yearo ‘ago.

two . :

& member up to about mXghx years ago. :
T b . :

I haven't any recollection whon the olub diq

acquainted, His general reputation for mﬂ'"ﬂ

'™



two yoaru ago; I aon't kanu thm
roorganized I boloncod at the tﬂl‘ h‘ftrt

ized,

ABRAHAM A, EDELMAN, c
‘, ‘baw: of the defendant, being du
~@s follows:

PGy uy:i

lnctn !&rtct and Broannas an

29 ‘blt llath Btroot.

peoplb-with whom he is acquainted, His roputtxi

is very good,

ROBERT J. Rosi:xrnan aumnrorm

People in rebuttal, testified as fnllovu.



That pin m'kopt“h thm

I went down thon
jewelry takon out. of the ll.f. M C
occasions the three stone diamond pin m
the Jeyelry. I saw it during last o;:_ri'n“

I saw that pin on the tqu
time I seen it was on the rifth ‘o:l‘r f“
Qy ij.fo returned it to my. brmh_
My wife returned it to the mbr
wife had been wearing 1t down at

of July. I had been with »or,

mother died before we were married,
This was not the first time she borrowed this pim-r’_'
I saw her wearing it at Bensonhurst., I remember the aay m

borrowed this pin. She wanted to go to Bomoahnrlt. “ i

she says, "We will go down to llixo 8 and get one",

went down to the store., We went to the store lﬂm



days after the jewelry turned up; I saw him m M“'
store. I saw him down at the -toro m 1
: I saw him at my house.

He was there several tmvt‘l

el.eﬂvas found excepting the pin%; he tnrmd around Oﬁw

says, "Well, that cannot be lost; it must ﬁo‘ nmm




ruanat'o arrut.
pin probably being .nu m M

saw him in Simpson's pawn llwp with 'm

together. T went with him,

is this the pin you stole and pmﬂ“‘
he says, "I don't know what made n “

to cry.

"Now", I says, "Mike, you know my brother got this lqr

on memorandum, They cost Mla'. I mt. .If rm w

/.v



Street and I got,

other"y

about them personally. I did not go to
second Street, He told the off_icozf M

I told him to

Aprn I think it was now, I don t M
tainly before the 1lth of July; I com;

dates; I cannot carry them so lou.

he - done with the tickets,

He said he tore the tickets up; I asked hiltﬁ

give me the tickets and he said he tore them up or Mltum
them. He said something about making good, 1 | {

He said that if the ofﬁcor would let him go W
he would get the money, pay the paﬂu broknrl and nt the

stuff back again; so I left that u}tiroly to thn

m the ofiiceru of oourn. couu

CROSS RXAMINATION: e TR AL
: p 4

A ar ettt U _m



No. 32 Third Avemus for about
ficers in this case. I knew them fru
there; they go in every place, I oallod&m
ﬁémes. I knew them for years.

I testified on the 1‘a.‘u trial 5
quontion was not put to me about uci“ “
wife, I did not say o word about it ¢
I did not say a word about_ovo“rvn‘,oiqf

1

the month of June or Jul}, ‘10‘01", S

he was brought down to Court.
on that; I don't. remember .,
| None of these quut ions were ukod hf u in j
last trial, You had never seen me in my life vhtu 1 took
the witness-stand in the last trial. I was a.lllod this
question, "Did you know Sekeson, the defendant, prior to

that time"?

jewelry before? -A. Yes, sir, I have ‘seen 1t 3#” W,
That 4is right; when it uxoma to my mtm

‘mn: sister-in-law's jewelry. B



Not about this case. That he had taken uoqo_._;jomw ;

of diamond earringl which he t.ook m

Simpson's*. That is right,

July., It isn't true that that was ﬂ“ ﬁ
never had a word with him,

GENEVA ROSENTHAL, a vitn'-u:.téét;&_t“ e,
bein{aﬂied in rebuttal, being duly sworn, tcltifiu
as follows: - _

I a.m the wife of the last witmess., I know the

complainant in thies case; Joe Rosenthal is my mphcv'.' m

is his father is my brother in law, ‘

fifth, Sunday. I was going to Bomgmﬂ-t to qnuﬂ

o e get?
9 0 T R p"



s AT

After ouppor I u.:ld to hiﬁ**ﬂ L
nate?* he says, "Yes"; I says, "Il“ fw
might have been the winner then",

I said, "Now it is funny the othor jewelry m
fident that pin will be found to-morrow, Monday® .

CROSS EXAMINA™ION: ?@s
- !
You aid -‘nt ask me to testify to any M\

astion én the Jah irteds. S AN RN uarutj to




3

SAYUEL LEWIS Jr. awitness calle
, ~ 1o
of the People, in rebuttal, being duly mﬁ ;

tollows: ;

way. I am u-ociat.od with Xneeland,

were opponents on two ocmiou-.

sociate with the younger boys, and B0 a new club"livd;

ized and that we called the Young Potomac cadet‘l. s
{

-

I had known the boys some years prior to tm Q“'

the clup was organiud. When you say club or caﬂotl m_

a difference; Milton M. Sekeson was not an organizer of

)
]

Young Potomac Cadets. .



b
Y

" three er four years back anl M m’
ronu Poto-u o‘aou into m !’m .
dets. The defendant was not a member of the
cadets. He was a member of the Young Potwcl

not the badge of the Young Pot‘onia.q; Ulub,

.mo pin; all of them did not, a good w

There were only #
at mx the time; when they
twenty-six members and no
I doubt very much whether there are four in existence,

I aided Miss Buck in the orga.nizatioii of this u'- “
ciety, she was the principal organizer; she is in Europe, ! ;
I ran four or five entertainments. *The Doba.tin aotht”’*: i
Well, I don't remember; II remember running an m?crmﬁ
where pomething of that sort ni;ht be —-I don' ETW w
that was the name of the farce,"The Debat ing Loﬁott'u

I don't remember,




that the club had, 'He was not an or
tomac Cadets. T did mot give him emy pin.

JOSEPH ROSENTHAL,a withess for the
recalled in rebuttal, testified &
On this table (indicating) ¢

here, there were also boxes.

of the room at all.

(Witness indicates by a czfoia where this do!’.ﬂn’\;w
ant found the jewelry) Right there., I had looked thu‘ or
four times in the office that day the jownlry t.\arltﬂ w;

looked there with the officou am my nnclo-"

.o

[ ‘store to get some silverware. 1 huo * nwﬂ tu q'

of that transaction. Here is the bMo mm

T / ¢ T IC Cronse - —-




purchase there; of everything he bm e,
Mr. Lowengard was the buyer of
of Vew Orleans. I have an a.ocou.nt aminlt au "

that aocount. isthere, and shows pure & ,. 

‘gard on the fourteenth day of .Tu.'ty.

the ledger; pages 166 and 167,

N

to the defendant, in regard to why he had done nmtth

He said, "Why did you do this. Don't you kmm

Ll

I owe two month's rent"; he said, "You never gave m 0

home. If you only gave me the money it would M MQ'

ferent,¥

”.' I heard a comroat:lon between thil ,dn
'rtho otriu‘ relative to some diamond am(np ﬂu"
‘r' X o e ;

b t-nrm into studs. :‘ﬂpn W“W‘

P e S
. w o




fourteenth., After the goods are e
them back and weigh them and tm 1
before we weigh them,

LOUTIS -LIPMA".a.vitu‘nﬂ

near Mr, Rosenthal's place; it is a repair shop, a'TJ'_l"idifW'“
repair shop,; it is quite near Mr, Roientb&l"l store. I“
quite some repairing for him., I remember repairing m

for young Joe Rosenthal,




time in the year,

witness on the laut trial. Ho unen te

occasionally to have thin pin fixed, !ﬂ

GRORGE A,, PINEGA R, auﬁi '

the pin; I know nothing about that at all.
CROSS EXAMINA'fION:

I don't know whether she borrowed it or‘m-;-v_ 1
not say; I don't know, I have been in the employ otﬂr,

Rogenthal six and a half years,




I see the office on that diagram " mn
)jevelry on that diagram. I had lookaﬁ 1»»9
several times,

There were not any paper boxes m&'
t.ho floor where the jewelry had been rum. ;
that I had '1ooked there weveral times am‘ ;obhd@“{]
the store I directed this defendant and the ot&ri'j; &0
ahead and make another search; I had an object in vthl‘to‘v

That is my signature. That is the corroboraﬂ.m»
affidavit T swore to in the Poligce Court on this owl&ﬁﬁ
I swore to that on the 31lst day of .Tuly, t,ha.t. was t“o. wl
after the 29th,

I did remand him back to Headquarters 'a,t Mgm
'r-oque-t. I had him in the Police Court. I Ioﬁm m

He was two days in police Headquarters. mmm



MILTON M ssxpson,m.aar
the stana: N

) l'-u.v“\f |

It was in the office right between ﬁu ,

W

this wall casey” m-‘ata‘dﬂ" yeWy, and then n‘n;it:

under the counter here, and we looked under the cmtil‘.*

We were in here fire-i and then we went into tM

dl‘fice after we finished the Iorepart of the store, nnﬂ M Sl
is where we found it. T have heard the convers:tion m-'
rated here by Rounthul the unclo o( tlu ceqwlmi ‘
hoard him, &xd\ & conversation dia not take place. I m

. mot ul to be remndod to Pel.i.n ngrun.

f U o AR R L e e
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